IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Supreme Court Case No. 24,641 85,235

097 FILED SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Chief Deputy Clerk

EDWARD C. VINING, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

EDWARD C. VINING, JR. 25 S.E. Second Avenue, Suite 527 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: 305/374-7684 Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For the purposes of this brief, the following persons/entities will be referred to as follows:

- Petitioner, Edward C. Vining, Jr., the individual,
 (Respondent below) will be referred to as "Vining."
- 2) The Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A., a Florida corporation, will be referred to as the "Vining P.A."
- 3) The Maurice Gusman Residuary Trust No. 1 d/b/a The Ingraham Building will be referred to as "the Ingraham Building."
- 4) Byte International Corp. will be referred to as "Byte"
 References to three (3) trial transcripts used in this Brief
 will be made as follows:

T.	4/11/97	at	Page	
----	---------	----	------	--

- T. 10/24/97 at Page _____
- T. 10/31/97 at Page _____

References to the appendix attached to/accompanying this brief will be designated as "Appx."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In November of 1991, the Maurice Gusman Residuary Trust No. 1 d/b/a The Ingraham Building ("the Ingraham Building"), through its manager, Robert Gusman, employed the services of attorney Edward C. Vining, Jr., a sole practitioner (not a P.A.) to represent the Ingraham Building in connection with its complaint that one if its tenants, Byte International Corp., whose store was located in the Ingraham Building arcade, was selling computers and related merchandise in violation of its lease with the Ingraham Building. The Ingraham Building had previously warned Byte International to cease and desist from the sale of computers but Byte steadfastly refused despite the fact that other tenants were complaining about such sales.

Robert Gusman employed the services of attorney Edward C. Vining, Jr. to take the necessary steps to cause Byte International to comply with the provisions of its lease with the Ingraham Building and to cease selling computers and related products. Vining wrote a letter to Byte dated November 8, 1991 making a demand upon Byte to cease and desist from the sale of computers. (Respondent/Vining's Exhibit 3). Byte continued to sell computers and the Ingraham Building, through Robert Gusman, authorized the filing of the lawsuit against Byte to enforce the provisions of the lease which precluded Byte from the sale of computers.

In early 1992, Vining filed a suit entitled Maurice Gusman Residuary Trust No. 1 d/b/a The Ingraham Building vs. Byte

International Corp., a Florida corporation, Case No. 92-7021 CA 08 and served the summons and complaint upon Byte. Byte filed an answer and a counterclaim generally alleging that the Ingraham Building was conspiring against Byte and that the request to cease selling computers was a subterfuge.

The case was hotly litigated, was transferred from county to circuit court, a demand for jury trial was made by Byte, a series of depositions were taken, interrogatories submitted and production demanded.

The trial was set for the week of November, 1992 (T. 4/11/97 at Page 60) however, but by that time, Byte had exhausted its stalling tactics and agreed to the entry of an order of eviction by which it was forced to vacate the leased premises. The agreed order of eviction reserved ruling on attorney's fees and costs. (Respondent/Vining's Exhibit 6; T. 4/11/97 at Page 62).

On behalf of his client, the Ingraham Building, Vining caused the matter to be scheduled before the trial court judge for hearing upon application for the award of attorney's fees and costs. An order dated February 9, 1993 was entered finding that the Ingraham Building was entitled to an award of attorney's fees and costs and contained a reservation to determine the amounts at a subsequent date. In the meantime, Byte requested a stay of the proceedings which was granted.

As an aside, at this stage of the Byte proceedings, there is no mention of the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. nor does the name of that corporate entity appear on any pleadings, correspondence, etc. On February 17, 1993, Byte filed a notice of appeal challenging the February 9, 1993 order finding that the Ingraham Building is entitled to an award of fees and costs from Byte. On March 30, 1993 Byte filed its initial brief.

On April 14, 1993, the Ingraham Building notified Vining in writing that he was not to proceed any further in the county court and circuit court cases. (Bar's Composite Exhibit 1; T. 4/11/97 at Page 22).

On April 16, 1993 (2 days after the April 14, 1993 termination letter), the Ingraham Building's new attorney, Moises Grayson of the firm Blaxberg, Grayson & Singer, P.A. requested Vining to provide of copy of the files. (Bar's Exhibit 3). Thus, in the midst of the appellate proceedings brought by Byte, the Ingraham Building's new lawyer has contacted Vining demanding the files.

Grayson again requested the files from Vining on July 13, 1993 (T. 4/11/97 at Page 94) and subsequently filed a motion for the files which was denied, however, Vining did give Grayson a copy of the files (T. 4/11/97 at Page 96).

At T. 4/11/97 at Page 97 Grayson commented that Vining handled the [Byte] appeal, that Vining was successful in the appeal and, at T. 10/24/97 Page 17, that Vining, "...did win the appeal."

In 1986, a entity known as the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. (the "Vining P.A."), entered into a lease with the Ingraham Building for certain office space. On April 20, 1993 Grayson filed suit on behalf of the Ingraham Building against the Vining P.A. (not the individual) for breach of that lease and delinquent rent.

At that point, the Ingraham Building had not yet compensated Vining, the individual, for the services he provided in connection with the Byte litigation. June 22, 1993 and February 8, 1994 (Appx. 8 and 9, respectively) Vining, the individual, assigned his. claim for fees/costs owed by the Ingraham Building to the corporate entity, the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A., and pleaded unpaid attorney's fees as a counterclaim in the litigation brought by the Ingraham Building against the Vining P.A. for breach of lease and delinquent rent. The case went to trial and the Ingraham Building was given a judgment against the Vining P.A. which was off-set to some degree by certain credits given to the Vining P.A. on its counterclaim against the Ingraham Building for unpaid attorney's fees/costs. The Ingraham Building was not satisfied with its supplemental judgment against the Vining P.A. and brought proceedings in an attempt to implead Vining, the individual, and to "pierce the corporate veil" in an attempt to prove that Vining, the individual, and the Vining P.A. were one and the same entity. An evidentiary hearing was conducted by the court and a judgment for the impleaded party, Edward C. Vining, Jr., was entered. judgment contains copious findings by the trier of fact that Edward C. Vining, Jr., the individual, and the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. were separate and distinct entities, that the Ingraham Building (as well as its present and former managers) were well acquainted with this fact, and the Vining P.A. made no attempt to deceive or evade a creditor and that the Ingraham Building failed to prove that the

formation of the Vining P.A. was for any illegal, fraudulent or other unjust purpose. (Appx. 23-29)

On July 28, 1993, Vining filed an answer brief on behalf of the Ingraham Building in connection with the appeal taken by Byte. Oral argument was held on October 4, 1993 and on November 9, 1993, the Third District Court of Appeal in Case No. 93-348 confirmed the lower court's order February 9, 1993 with an opinion. (T. 4/11/97 at Page 73; Respondent/Vining's Exhibit 7)

On November 8, 1993 - one day before the issuance of the Third District's November 9, 1993 opinion - Grayson filed a motion for substitution. The order allowing the substitution was entered January 28, 1994. (T. 4/11/97 at Page 233; Vining's Exhibit 17).

In the Order entered by the Referee dated January 22, 1998, which is on review herein, the Referee made the curious finding that the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. and Respondent Edward C. Vining, Jr. are one and the same person. The Referee further recommended that Vining be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.16 because he continued to represent the Ingraham Building after the April 14, 1993 termination letter, that he be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.7(b) because Vining was represented the Ingraham Building in an appeal when he himself was being sued by and counter-suing the Ingraham Building and was pursuing the appeal without consulting with the Ingraham Building. The Referee recommended a six month suspension. (Appx. 1-7).

It is from that January 22, 1998 order that the Petitioner Edward C. Vining, Jr. seeks to have this Court review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As to Point I, Vining urges that the finding by the Referee that Edward C. Vining, Jr., an individual, is one and the same as a corporate entity, the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. is improper and unsupported by the testimony and evidence. Doing so renders certain of the Referee's findings incomprehensible, confusing and fallacious.

As to Point II, Vining urges that under the very unusual scenario of this case, the findings by the Referee that Vining violated certain Bar rules are misplaced and taken out of the context of the actual facts. The six months suspension recommended by the Referee is excessive and, at the very least, should have been mitigated by the abundant character witnesses and the testimony by the complaining witness's own attorney that actions taken by Vining caused no harm to the client. Further, the Referee either overlooked or merely glossed over the obvious fact that the Bar complaint was filed against Vining in order to gain an advantage and leverage against him in an underlying civil action which was concurrently being pursued. As evidence of this fact, there is abundant testimony and evidence that eventually all disputes between Vining, the Vining P.A. and Robert Gusman/the Ingraham Building were amicably resolved and the Bar was advised that the complainant did not wish to pursue the Bar matter.

POINT I

THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE CORPORATE ENTITY, THE EDWARD C. VINING, JR., P.A., WAS ONE AND THE SAME AS THE INDIVIDUAL, EDWARD C. VINING, JR., AN ATTORNEY-AT-LAW WHO NEVER PRACTICED AS A P.A.

In the January 22, 1998 order, the Referee made the following finding:

2. The Respondent is for the purpose of this proceeding the same as Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A., hereinafter referred to as the Respondent.

(Appx. 1-7)

That finding is not only improper but is not supported by any testimony or evidence before the Referee. The attempt to lump Edward C. Vining, Jr. and the Vining P.A. into one entity permeates the Referee's order and caused confusion and an improper view of the evidence.

Edward C. Vining, Jr. was authorized and licensed to practice law in the State of Florida as an attorney and is the named respondent in the proceedings instituted by the Florida Bar and from which Referee's report flows.

The Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. is a corporation whose sole and only function in these proceedings -- or any other proceedings, for that matter -- is as a lessee of rented office space in a building known as the Ingraham Building located in downtown Miami, Florida. For a ten (10) year period, the Vining P.A. leased office space from the Maurice Gusman Residuary Trust No. 1 d/b/a The

Ingraham Building and the complainant, Robert Gusman, is its agent. Edward C. Vining, Jr., the individual, did not practice law as a P.A. Vining's letterhead does not reflect "P.A." There are no pleadings or matters of record filed by Vining on behalf of the Ingraham Building in either of the two Byte cases that reflect that he practiced as a "P.A." Neither the lobby directory in the Ingraham Building nor the placard at the door of Vining's law office contain the phrase "P.A." Thus, the Referee's finding that a corporate entity and the individual, Edward C. Vining, Jr., are one and the same is misguided and are simply not supported by the evidence.

In actuality, there was a prior attempt by the Ingraham Building in its suit against the Vining P.A. to pierce the corporate veil and prove that Vining and the Vining, P.A. were one and the same and were alter egos. A judgment entered in favor of Vining against the Ingraham Building dated August 3, 1995 made abundant findings to the contrary, found that Edward C. Vining, Jr. is not the same as the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. and that they were separate and distinct entities. (Appx. 23-29) The Ingraham Building has had its "day in court" with respect to its attempt to fuse Vining with the Vining P.A. Even the appeal taken by the Ingraham Building from the August 3, 1995 judgment was later dismissed when the parties globally resolved their differences. The fact that Vining and the Vining P.A. are not one and the same is the law of the case. (Appx. 23-29)

For the Referee to now make a finding contrary to that circuit court judgment and to find that Vining, the individual, is the same as the Vining P.A. is improper and not supported by the record. This Court should not be swayed by that misguided finding.

In paragraph 4 of the findings, the Referee finds that in January of 1992, the Respondent [ostensibly referring to the Vining/Vining P.A. composite] and Robert Gusman [the complaining witness] began a relationship whereby Robert Gusman asked Respondent [again ostensibly, the Vining/Vining P.A. blend] for legal assistance. There is no evidence that Vining ever practiced law as a P.A. but there is uncontroverted evidence that he never practiced as a P.A. Robert Gusman never "asked" the Vining P.A. for legal assistance as the Referee found. This Court should now understand why the concept of Edward C. Vining, Jr., the individual, should not have been merged with the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A., a corporate entity whose only relationship with the Ingraham Building or its agents/managers was as a lessee and nothing else.

This Court should ignore the finding of the Referee insofar as commingling and intertwining Edward C. Vining, Jr., the individual, with the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A., a Florida corporation, so as to make one, single indistinguishable entity that did not represent any client at any time.

POINT II

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE REFEREE TO FIND THAT VINING IS GUILTY OF CONTINUED REPRESENTATION OF A CLIENT UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE AND THE RECOMMENDATION OF A SIX MONTH SUSPENSION IS EXCESSIVE.

The Referee's order of January 22, 1998 recommended that Vining be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.16 by continuing to representing the Ingraham Building after the April 14, 1993 termination letter, guilty of Rule 4-1.7(b) by representing the Ingraham Building in an appeal when Vining was being sued by and counter-suing the client, and guilty of violating Rule 4-1.2(a) in that Vining failed to abide by the client's objectives. (Appx. 1-7)

On February 9, 1993 the trial court in the Maurice Gusman Residuary Trust No. 1 d/b/a The Ingraham Building v. Byte International Corp. case entered an order by which the Ingraham Building may be awarded attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Sec. 83.231, Florida Statutes. On February 17, 1993 Byte took an appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal to review that February 9, 1993 order. Byte served its initial brief on March 30, 1993 upon Vining, the individual, and not the Vining P.A., who was still the attorney of record for the Ingraham Building. Upon receipt of Byte's brief, Vining began research in order to prepare an answer brief. However, on April 14, 1993 Vining received a letter

discharging him (Bar's Exhibit 1; T. 4/11/97 at Page 22). That letter demonstrates that the directions which Vining (the individual) received from Robert Gusman on behalf of the Ingraham Building referenced two case numbers, one a county court case and the other a circuit court case. The letter makes no reference to the pending appeal being pursued by Byte.

The Ingraham Building's new attorney, Moises Grayson, wrote a letter to Vining dated April 16, 1993 requesting that Vining turn over certain files. (Bar's Exhibit 3; T. 4/11/97 at Page 91)

On April 20, 1993, Moises Grayson filed suit on behalf of his client, the Ingraham Building, for breach of lease and delinquent rent against its tenant, the Edward C. Vining, Jr., <u>P.A.</u>

As shown by the record, the Ingraham Building's answer brief was due to be filed one day prior to the filing of the suit by the Ingraham Building against the Vining P.A. Although it was obvious that Moises Grayson was the Ingraham Building's new lawyer, he never took any steps to substitute himself/his firm in place of Edward C. Vining, Jr. as attorneys for the Ingraham Building in the Byte cases (the appellate and lower court cases) until nearly seven (7) months later on November 8, 1993. The following day, November 9, 1993, the Third District Court of Appeal issued an opinion whereby the Ingraham Building prevailed in the appeal taken by Byte. (Respondent/Vining's Exhibit 7; T. 4/11/97 at Page 73; Appx. 11-13)

At this stage of the proceedings, Vining was faced with a dilemma. The termination letter was dated April 14, 1993 does not

mention the pending appeal taken by Byte and Byte had already served its initial brief on March 30, 1993.

Was the Ingraham Building's new attorney aware of the appeal taken by Byte?

The Ingraham Building's new attorneys, Moises Grayson/the firm of Blaxberg, Grayson & Singer, P.A., have offices in the same building as Edward C. Vining, Jr. -- the Ingraham Building in downtown Miami¹. Frequently, Grayson and Vining would run into each other in the Dade County Courthouse, in the lobby/elevators of the Ingraham Building and the garage where they both parked their cars. During these numerous encounters, Grayson asked Vining about the status of the Byte appeal at a time well after Vining had received the famous April 14, 1993 termination letter. Vining always gave Grayson a status report on the appeal. T. 4/11/97 at Page 224.

At page 16 of the transcript of the hearing held in the Bar proceedings on October 24, 1997, in the midst of testimony being given by Moises Grayson, the Referee made the following comment:

THE REFEREE: As far as one of the issues on attorney's fees, that is a matter of record at the hearing level, that both Grayson and Gusman knew of the appeal and that it was a matter of record at the hearing level and that Grayson did not move to substitute himself as a matter of probably deductive reasoning, by virtue of the fact that testimony was given in the appeal and no testimony was ever given that he substituted himself.

So this seems to be mildly repetitive.

In fact, Grayson's office is just down the hall from Robert Gusman's offices in the Ingraham Building's management office. T. 4/11/97 at Page 224.

Are there areas that the hearing officer is not already aware of that you want to ask questions about?

Robert Gusman candidly admitted that the April 14, 1993 termination letter directed to Vining did not mention the Byte appeal (T. 4/11/97 at Page 67) and also acknowledged that he signed a letter directed to the Florida Bar advising that he had settled the case (referring to the issues between the Ingraham Building and Vining and the Vining P.A.) and that he did not want to proceed any further. (T. 4/11/97 at Page 77; Vining's Exhibit 8; Appx. 31)

At T. 4/11/97, Page 97 Grayson testified as follows:

- Q. Mr. Grayson, were you aware that Mr. Vining continued to represent the Ingraham Building after that letter of termination of April 14th, 1993?
- A. Yes. In fact, I believe he handled the appeal and ultimately a decision was rendered and he was successful in the appeal.

Vining testified that he was working on the brief in the Byte appeal at or about the time that he received the April 14, 1993 termination letter. Vining testified about the fact that the April 14, 1993 termination letter came as a surprise to him, that he assumed that some other lawyer would be assigned to handle the appeal and that when he encountered Moises Grayson in the elevator, in the lobby, in the garage or on the streets, he inquired about the status of the Byte appeal. (T. 4/11/97 at Pages 220-224)

- Q. When [Grayson] asked you how the appeal was doing, what was your response?
- A. [by Vining] I gave him -- I said -- I told him where we were.

We filed a brief. I told him, I said, "We filed a brief and the answer brief."

- Q. Did you tell [Grayson] what you thought your chances were on the appeal?
- A. When I got the brief ready, the answer brief, I thought we had an excellent chance of prevailing because we had gone to a great deal of research in going to the legislative intent of the statute.

The 3-page opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal dated November 9, 1993 affirmed the lower court and went into great detail about the legislative history of the statute. (Appx. 11-13)

By separate order the appellate court awarded attorney's fees to the Ingraham Building in connection with the appeal.

> The issue of the amount of attorney's fees for the appeal and the trial court and the issue of the termination letter and its bearing thereon

At the time the Ingraham Building sued the Edward C. Vining, Jr., P.A. for delinquent rent, the Ingraham Building still owed Vining, the individual, for the services he had provided in the two Byte cases (trial level and appellate). Vining, the individual, assigned his claims for attorney's fees/costs to the Vining, P.A. by assignments dated June 22, 1993 and February 8, 1994 (Appx. 8 and 9, respectively). The issues between the Ingraham Building and the Vining, P.A. were tried before a General Master, the Hon. John R. Farrell, who issued a report and recommendation

Later, in the Bar proceedings against Vining, General Master Farrell testified that he had entered a report (dated January 4, 1994) finding that the Vining P.A. was entitled to be compensated for services rendered to the Ingraham Building from April 14, 1993 (the date of the "termination" letter) through the date of when Grayson and his firm were finally substituted in Vining's place. (Appx. 14-15). At T. 4/11/97 at Pages 199-201, General Master Farrell stated that his findings in the suit brought by the Ingraham Building against the Vining P.A. were based in part upon the fact that,

... until the existing representation by counsel was replaced by substitute counsel, that the existing counsel of record had a duty and an obligation to take all appropriate steps to protect his client.

* * *

You have to be specifically relieved by a Court order or you continue to have a responsibility. In the absence of a Court order relieving him of responsibility -- and I was not aware of any then or am I now -- he had a duty to protect and maintain and continue.

The report and recommendations of General Master Farrell dated January 4, 1994 were later confirmed and ratified by the court. The Vining P.A. later took appeal from that order but, as part of the general settlement of <u>all</u> issues between by the Ingraham Building, the Vining, P.A. and Vining, individually, (including the Bar proceedings), that appeal was dismissed. The Ingraham Building gave a general release to Vining and the Vining, P.A. dated April

22, 1996 (T. 4/11/97 at Page 43; Vining's Exhibit 1; Appx. 30) absolving Vining and the Vining P.A. of any further responsibility for fees, rent or otherwise.

In addition, the Ingraham Building obtained a judgment for attorney's fees against Byte International Corp. in the sum of \$15,750.00 (T. 4/11/97 at Page 111; Vining's Exhibit 9).

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