FILED 097 JUL 14 1998 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_

Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

EDWARD C. VINING, JR.,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

ARLENE KALISH SANKEL Bar Counsel The Florida Bar No. 272981 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

Supreme Court Case No.-84,641 85235

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 561-5600

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 561-5600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Bar specifically disagrees with the following portion of the statement of facts in the Respondent's brief:

On April 14, 1993, the Ingraham Building notified Vining in writing that he was not to proceed any further in the county court and circuit court cases. (The Florida Bar's composite Exhibit 1.)

In fact, the letter encompassed all cases in which Vining was counsel in behalf of Ingraham against Byte. The complete text of the letter (The Florida Bar Exhibit 1) which appeared above the signature of Robert M. Gusman follows:

> On behalf of the Ingraham Building, I am advising you that your firm is no longer authorized to proceed in any manner in the above referenced action as legal counsel for the Ingraham Building and you are hereby discharged from any further work in this case or in any other matters which you may be performing on behalf of the Ingraham Building.

> You are requested to arrange for the delivery of all file documents relating to this case following your receipt of this letter. (Emphasis added).

In addition to the foregoing factual disagreement, The Florida Bar will submit factual distinctions in the context of the argument portion of this brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent presents two arguments. The first argument is that Edward Vining, personally, cannot be found to be in violation of ethical rules if Edward Vining, P.A. is responsible for the egregious conduct. No authority has been advanced by the Respondent in support of his position.

The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and the pertinent case law specifically reject Respondent's assertion. The applicable authority states that unethical acts perpetrated in the context of the P.A. are the personal responsibility of the individual attorney.

The Respondent also argues that the evidence was not sufficient to establish that Respondent continued to represent a client contrary to the client's wishes. Respondent has failed to meet his burden of proof in that regard.

Respondent was directed by a letter from his client that he was "discharged from any further work in this case or in any other matters." His client obtained new counsel and that fact was known to Respondent. The client did not authorize the appeal pursued by Respondent. Nevertheless, Respondent did not cooperate with requests to deliver files, and persisted with the appeal.

In view of the foregoing, the applicable case law provides

that a six month suspension was appropriate.

٠

-

ARGUMENT

I. RESPONDENT CANNOT AVOID RESPONSIBILITY FOR ETHICAL VIOLATIONS BY UTILIZING THE P.A. AS A SHIELD

(Rephrasing Respondent's First Point I on Appeal)

Respondent seeks exoneration based upon the involvement of Edward Vining, P.A. He cites <u>no</u> authority in support of his position. In fact, the applicable authority constitutes a direct rejection of Respondent's argument.

First, Rule of Professional Conduct 4-8.6(d) states:

(d) Violation of Statute or Rule.

A lawyer who, while acting as a shareholder, member, officer, director, partner, manager, agent, or employee of an authorized business entity and engaged in the practice of law in Florida, violates or sanctions the violation of the authorized business entity statutes or the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar shall be subject to disciplinary action.

This Court's ruling was virtually identical in a case decided under the former Rules. This Court stated <u>In the Matter of The</u> <u>Florida Bar</u>, 133 So.2d 554, 556 (Fla. 1961):

> The individual practitioner, whether a stockholder in a corporation or otherwise, will continue to be expected to abide by all of the Rules and Canons of ethics heretofore or hereafter professional required of him. The corporate entity as a method of doing business will not be permitted to protect the unfaithful or the unethical. As a matter of fact, the corporate entity itself will automatically come within the ambit of our jurisdiction in regard to discipline. (Emphasis

supplied).

In a non-disciplinary context, The Third District reiterated the governing rule in <u>Corbett, Killian, et al. v. Merritt</u>, 478 So.2d 828, 833 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985):

> We are not unmindful that while a law firm practicing as a professional service corporation is governed by corporate law, its lawyers are nonetheless governed by the ethical standards contained in the Code of Professional Responsibility, §621.07, Fla.Stat. (1981). See In re The Florida Bar, 133 So.2d 554, 556 (Fla. 1961) ("The individual practitioner, whether а stockholder in a corporation or otherwise, will continue to be expected to abide by all of the Rules and Canons of professional ethics heretofore or hereafter required of him. The corporate entity as a method of doing business will not be permitted to protect the unfaithful or the unethical.")

It is amply clear that the Respondent's argument is legally incorrect and frivolous.

II. RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVING THAT THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS. A SIX MONTH SUSPENSION IS APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE. (Rephrasing Respondent's Point II on Appeal)

Respondent argues that there was insufficient proof that he was guilty of violating Rule 4-1.16 by continuing to represent the Ingraham Building after receiving the April 14, 1993 termination letter; or that he violated Rule 4-1.2(a) in that Respondent failed to abide by his client's directives.

As stated in <u>The Florida Bar v. Niles</u>, 644 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1994):

... this court's review of a referee's findings of fact is not in the nature of a trial de novo. The responsibility for finding facts and resolving conflicts in the evidence is placed with the referee. The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1980). The referee's findings "should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support." The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770, 772 (Fla. 1968); The Florida Bar v. Neely, 502 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987). Further, rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(A) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides that the referee's findings of fact as to items of misconduct charged "shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding." See The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987).

An examination of each rule and the evidence presented at the final hearing clearly reveals that Respondent has not met his burden. Rule of Professional Conduct 4-1.16 provides:

RULE 4-1.16 DECLINING OR TERMINATING REPRESENTATION (a) When Lawyer Must Decline or Terminate Representation. Except as stated in subdivision (c), a lawyer shall not represent a client or, where representation has commenced, shall withdraw from the representation of a client if:...(3) the lawyer is discharged.

Robert Gusman informed the Respondent, in a letter dated April 14, 1993, that he, Vining, was "discharged from any further work in this case or in any other matters which you may be performing on behalf of the Ingraham Building." (The Florida Bar Exhibit 1). Respondent obtained new counsel after sending the discharge letter (T. 31). The new counsel, Moises Grayson, sought to obtain the files in the pending cases by correspondence dated April 16, 1993 and July 13, 1993. (T. 93-95). Respondent did not comply with either request and, therefore, Grayson filed a motion in the Circuit Court to compel production of the files (T. 95). Shortly after the denial of the motion, Respondent delivered file copies to Grayson. (T. 91). However, Respondent continued to represent the Ingraham Building in regard to the pending appeal. (T. 72).

Respondent was clearly uncooperative in regard to facilitating any transition to new counsel and failing to withdraw as required by the rules. Consequently, Grayson's knowledge of the status of the appeal at a particular point in time referred to by the Respondent is immaterial.

By continuing to pursue the appeal, the Respondent increased his billing of Gusman. He utilized that billing to offset \$13,000 which he owed Gusman for rent. (T. 32, 33, 105).

Gusman testified that he was initially unaware of the appeal but learned about it after the fact. (T. 30). Note the following questions addressed to Gusman and the answer.

Q. Did you authorize him to him (<u>sic</u>.) continue with the appeal?

A. No ma'am. I did not.

Respondent seeks to authorize his pursuit of the appeal on the basis that success on the appeal excuses the ethical violation. He provides no authority in support of that proposition.

Respondent mentions in his brief that at some point in time, Gusman no longer wished to proceed with his Bar complaint. Here, again, Respondent presents an argument without regard to applicable authority. Rule 3-7.6(j) states:

> (j) Complaining Witness. The complaining witness shall have no rights other than those of any other witness; the complaining witness has no right to be present during a hearing or trial but may be called upon to testify and produce evidence as any other witness. <u>Neither unwillingness nor neglect of the complaining witness to cooperate</u>, <u>nor settlement</u>, <u>compromise</u>, <u>or restitution will</u> <u>excuse failure to complete any trial</u>. (emphasis added)

It is clear from the foregoing that the changing posture of

the complaining witness, including the desire to cease pursuit of the issues, is of no importance.

Respondent also seeks to gain support from the ruling of Special Master Farrell, particularly his finding that Respondent had a duty to complete his representation of Gusman/Ingraham. Farrell's recommendations, adopted by the Court, were not binding upon the Bar which was not a party to the proceeding. <u>Res judicata</u> would, of course, require identity of parties and issues. <u>Albrecht</u> <u>v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1984).

Farrell did not consider any possible ethical violations and was not aware of Rule 4-1.16 quoted above which requires withdrawal by an attorney who has been discharged.

The pertinent portions of his testimony follows:

Q. So when you considered the specific request for fees in those two situations, you were not referred to look at any Rules of Professional Responsibility or any underlying unethical conduct concerning the actions of the lawyers involved in those litigations, were you?

A. Well, I have to split that into two questions.

Whenever I am addressing the matter of fees, I have to take into consideration all applicable standards and rules and so forth. However, the issue -- the second part of it -- of ethical quality or character of any conduct is not a matter for me to be concerned with as such. If there is any question about that, that's a matter for Grievance Committees and/or Bars or otherwise. (T. 198).

Q. General Master Farrell, are you familiar with Rule 4-1.16 of the --

A. Not by number, no.

Q. Why don't we publish it you can read it -

THE REFEREE: Why don't you let him look at it. That's a good idea.

BY MS. EVANS:

Q. Here it is (indicating).

A. (After examining) Well, I must say if I have looked at this in the last 35 or 40 years, I would not remember when. So the answer to your question is, I am not immediately familiar with it, no.

If you would like, I'll sit here and read it.

Q. Would you, please? Would you read Subsection A?

A. (After examining) Okay.

Q. Does this rule then state specifically that a lawyer shall not represent a client where representation has commenced and shall withdraw from representation of a client if the lawyer is discharged?

A. (After examining) It appear to have language very close to that which you just recited.

Q. So that would then be a rule you didn't consider when making your decisions on the orders that are Exhibits 11, 12, and 13?

A. I have no present awareness and I don't think I was aware of that rule at the time, nor indeed do I think it was brought to my attention by anyone. (T. 202-203).

It is clear that Respondent has failed to meet his burden of proving the absence of substantial evidence. Respondent has not established any error regarding the Referee's findings in violation of Rule 4-1.2(a) and 4-1.16(a)(3) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. Respondent has not denied the existence of conflict, violative of Rule 4-1.7(b). Therefore, the six month suspension was appropriate.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hayden</u>, 583 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 1991) the Respondent was suspended for six months for bringing contempt proceedings against his client's husband. He did so without his client's consent to gain leverage to collect a fee. The similarities are readily apparent.

In <u>The Florida Bar, In Re Pahules</u>, 334 So.2d 23 (Fla. 1976) the attorney received a three month suspension for a conflict of interest which did not involve dishonesty, fraud or deceit. A three month suspension for conflict of interest was also imposed in <u>The Florida Bar v. Sawyer</u>, 334 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1976).

A six month suspension is appropriate in this case in view of the foregoing cases, particularly in view of the existence of

multiple violations and several aggravating factors cited by the Referee.

CONCLUSION

Unless shown to be clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, a referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and should be upheld. The evidence presented to the referee in the instant case supports the rule violations found. Additionally, the law is clear that an attorney cannot avoid responsibility for ethical misconduct by using a P.A. as a shield.

A six month suspension is appropriate discipline for respondent's misconduct and the referee's report should be approved.

belene K. Jans

ARLENE KALISH SANKEL Bar Counsel The Florida Bar No. 272981 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 561-5600